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FOREWORD


The Royal College of Physicians was founded, by Royal Charter, in 1518 by King Henry VIII. Few professional organisations have been in continuous existence for so long, and over its five-hundred-year history the College has been at the centre of many aspects of medical life. Its principal purpose is to promote the highest standards of medical practice in order to improve health and healthcare, and its varied work in the field is held in high regard. Currently, the College has over thirty thousand members and fellows worldwide. Over the years it has also accumulated a distinguished library, extensive archives and a collection of portraits and other treasures, and has been housed in a number of notable buildings. As part of its quincentennial commemoration, a series of ten books has been commissioned. Each book features fifty reflections, thereby making a total of five hundred, intended to be a meditation on, and an exploration of, aspects of the College’s work and its collections over its five-hundred-year history.


This volume is the second of the pair on the topic of the history of the College. It covers the period from 1660 to the present era, and is written by two distinguished fellows of the College, Dr Louella Vaughan, who not only practises as a physician but also has an academic background in medical history, and Sir Richard Thompson, who is a past president of the College. It is not a comprehensive history, but one that dips in and out of the story of an institution that has played an important role in shaping modern British medicine. It provides an entertaining and authoritative picture and will be of value to all those interested in medical history.


The College’s grateful thanks are offered to all who have helped in all stages of production of this book, and especially to Julie Beckwith, Manager of the Library, Archive and Museum Services at the College, who was asked by the authors to provide many of the illustrations for the book, and to Sian Rance, who has designed the book. Special thanks are also due to Professor Linda Luxon, who has been intimately involved in the production of all the volumes in this series and especially those concerned with College history, to the staff in the medical publishing department, led by Natalie Wilder and Orla Fee, and to our publisher.
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THE COLLEGE AND THE RESTORATION

AN ‘ANXIOUS’ ORGANISATION

The great foundation myth of the College is that there was little or no regulation of medical practice in the early sixteenth century, with the people of England being preyed upon by charlatans and mountebanks who lacked genuine medical knowledge. The newly founded College was rapidly able to impose order on this unruly medical marketplace, becoming a shining beacon of superior medical practice to the glory of England and the great benefit of her people.

It was an organisation that made much of rules and regulations, but was quite happy to change these whenever it saw an opportunity to expand its power base or it felt threatened.

Our examination of the first 150 years or so of the College’s history has not confirmed this story of unmitigated glory and triumph. It has, instead, revealed an organisation riven by anxieties, which had driven it to take up certain intellectual stances on key questions. With regard to its primary purpose, its dominant activity was to regulate medical practice within seven miles of the City of London. Yet, this was at odds with its claims to be a ‘learned’ organisation and the stated need for it to be of ‘public benefit’, a function that sat more comfortably with interventions in matters of public health. It had wed itself tightly to Galenic medicine, even at a time when the old humoral concepts of medicine were slowly crumbling in the face of explorations in anatomy and natural philosophy. It had been conceived as a proto-egalitarian organisation, yet membership was increasingly restrictive on the grounds of nationality, education and other forms of affiliation. It was an organisation that made much of rules and regulations, but was quite happy to change these whenever it saw an opportunity to expand its power base or it felt threatened.

The College had also made itself an instrument of the monarch’s duty to preserve the health and well-being of the people of England. It tended to thrive in times of authoritarian monarchs and wither when deprived of the sunshine of regal approval. Accordingly, the collapse of the Stuart regime in 1645 had entirely unsurprisingly led to the near dissolution of the College. And while the College had begun to reshape itself from a predominantly regulatory body into a learned society with a healthy intellectual programme, it had done so with a number of compromises. The toleration of unlicensed practitioners was galling to many, and threatened permanently to undermine the authority of the College. Rather than rising to the challenge presented by Bacon and the new philosophy and embarking on wholesale medical reform, the College had settled on an intellectual compromise, melding less controversial aspects of the new philosophy with experimental anatomy in a way that did not challenge the central methodus medendi of Galen. The fellows had also opted for a policy of cooperation rather than giving way to internal factional pressures and imploding, but this did little to resolve ongoing misgivings about the purpose and direction of the College. But it was all enough to ensure its survival at a time of crisis.

THE RESTORATION OF THE ENGLISH MONARCHY

For all that many individual fellows privately mourned the death of the Republic, the College enthusiastically welcomed the triumphant return of King Charles II from the Continent. The College held an extraordinary comitia majora on 17 August 1660, with the fellows and the President expressing their joy and relief. The King himself received the College on 3 September 1660 and was presented with a unicorn’s horn, donated by Baldwin Hamey (1600–76) from his private collection and fitted with gold mountings at the request of the President. The President, Dr Alston, was knighted on the spot following an elegant speech. The display of devotion was sufficient to allay the concerns of the King, who had suspicions about the College’s dealings with Cromwell. The audience was closed with a promise of support for the College. The College professed itself to be jubilant.
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Charles II by John Michael Wright (© National Portrait Gallery, London)
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Top detail of William Harvey’s whalebone demonstration rod, 1616



THE CASE OF DR GODDARD
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For some, the Restoration represented a return to peace and stability after the storms of the Civil War. For others, it was a divinely ordained miracle. With restoration of the natural and divine order, England would again prosper. The College was eager to prosper alongside the nation, but there were matters that needed to be dealt with that it had simply ignored during its lean years. William Goddard had been expelled from the College in 1649 for contumacy, or disobedience. He had filed a suit in an attempt to regain his post, but the matter had not been resolved. In 1660, he asked that he should retake his place as a fellow. Goddard’s request was refused, but he stormed the next meeting of the Comitia and attempted to take his seat at the table anyway. The meeting was dissolved in disarray. Goddard took his case back to the King’s Bench, which ordered that Goddard should be restored. The College’s lawyers protested, with the justices agreeing that the College had the right to govern its own internal matters.

For some, the Restoration represented a return to peace and stability after the storms of the Civil War. For others, it was a divinely ordained miracle.

The reason for lingering over this episode is that it is the first occurrence of a member of the College attempting to forcibly take their seat at the table during a Comitia meeting. As only fellows were entitled to a seat at the table, this was a highly symbolic gesture, as well as a public one. The act also had echoes of Charles I entering the House of Commons in 1642 and sitting on the Speaker’s seat as a way of asserting his rights over Parliament. In any case, it was an act of rebellion against the authority of the College that would be repeated more than once over the next century.

YET ANOTHER CHARTER AND MORE FELLOWS

There was also the altogether more pressing matter of the College charter. The finding during the William Trigge case (discussed in Volume I) that the various College charters were invalid had threatened the College’s central claim to authority. Eager to avoid any further legal exploration of the matter by its enemies, the College sought to take advantage of the King’s good favour. Christopher Merrett, the Harveian Librarian, set to compiling a book outlining the legal powers of the College. A committee was formed to write and petition for a new charter. The work took three years, with Charles II sealing the document in 1663.

The new charter was lengthy. Yet it followed the established pattern, confirming the previous powers granted to the College while seeking to extend its regulatory powers. Of note, it changed the corporate name of the College to ‘the President Fellowes and Comonaltie of the Kings College of Physitians in the Cittie of London’.1 The number of fellows was increased to forty, the number of elects to ten, and the powers of the President and Vice-President were markedly enhanced. The College’s jurisdiction was extended to seven miles from the City of Westminster as well as London, and it affirmed its desire to be the sole provider of medical licences by creating the category of ‘extra-licentiate’ for those doctors who wished to practise medicine outside of London. The charter also contained a clause designed to finally quell any lingering doubts about the College’s political stance – all fellows were to take oaths of allegiance to the crown.
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Baldwin Hamey’s inkstand bell, presented to the College on his retirement in 1655 and one of the few items of silverware to survive both the Great Fire and the earlier burglary.



For all the fussing with the new charter and the College’s desire to present a sober face to the new regime, the document still managed to stir up controversy. It raised the hackles of the Society of Apothecaries, who pushed for the right for apothecaries to change prescriptions in light of available drugs and to administer medication in an emergency. The College, once again, would not brook the apothecaries prescribing under any circumstances. The new charter was unusual in that it named the forty fellows of the College, including a number of promotions from the candidate ranks. Timothy Clarke, then a candidate, protested that more junior physicians had been named amongst the fellowship even although he and a number of other candidates had been on the waiting list for many years. As the new fellows were physicians who had supported the King, the matter smelt unpleasantly of political favouritism and there were more protests. In early 1664, the College attempted to close down the matter by admitting all royal physicians as sociorum supernumeriorum, ‘additional fellows’.

To the College’s surprise, the bill to confirm the charter in the House of Commons failed. This was partly due to the opposition of the apothecaries, but also appears to have been because of the length and complexity of the document. The College’s response was not to consider the legitimate criticisms made. Instead, it proposed to extend the rank of honorary fellows beyond the royal physicians and bestow it to those who had prominent positions within the new government or had reputations for intellectual achievement. The six candidates who had protested about queue jumping were admitted to the fellowship. The end result was the College had more ‘regular’ fellows than its statutes explicitly allowed for and a total of seventy-three honorary fellows. A great banquet was held for the admission of the honorary fellows, who not only paid for the feast, but presented the College with silver vessels and paid £20 each for the privilege of admission.

In one fell swoop, the College had filled its coffers, which had finished the Civil War virtually empty, and formed a series of new allegiances.

In one fell swoop, the College had filled its coffers, which had finished the Civil War virtually empty, and formed a series of new allegiances. It had also brazened out the indignity of failing to have its new charter confirmed. The King continued to show favour to the College, attending an anatomy demonstration in 1665 and knighting the lecturer, George Ent, on the spot.

THE FOUNDING OF THE ROYAL SOCIETY

For over a hundred and fifty years, the College had occupied a unique position as the only learned society in England with a royal charter outside the universities. This was to change in 1660 with the founding of the Royal Society for the Improvement of Natural Knowledge and the granting of its first royal charter two years later. The exact circumstances of the Society’s founding are still argued about by historians. What is clear is the Society arose out of the numerous groups of men informally engaged in the study of natural philosophy, such as the College’s own 1645 Club. It styled itself as a Baconian ‘Salomen’s House’ and its explicit aim was ‘the advancement of the knowledge of natural things and useful arts by experiments, to the glory of God the creator and for the application to the good of mankind’.2
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